IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OBA CHANDLER,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. SC 01-1468

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

On Direct Appeal From A June 28, 2001 Final Order Of The Circuit Court For The Sixth Judicial Circuit In And For Pinellas County, Florida, Denying Appellant's Post Conviction Motion To Vacate His Convictions, Judgments And Death Sentences Filed Per The Provisions Of Florida Rule Of Criminal Procedure 3.850.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BAYA HARRISON 738 Silver Lake Road Post Office Drawer 1219 Monticello, FL 32345-1219 Tel: (850) 997-8469 Fax: (850) 997-8468 Florida Bar No. 099568

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

A. Nature of the Case

This is a direct appeal from a final Order (R. 2054-2089) of the Circuit Court of the Sixth Judicial Circuit, in and for Pinellas County, Florida, in Case No. CRC 92-17438 CFANO-B, Hon. Susan F. Schaeffer, Circuit Judge, presiding, rendered on June 28, 2001, denying the defendant's post conviction motion to vacate and set aside his first degree murder convictions, judgments of guilt and death sentences, filed per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850.

B. Course of the Proceedings

On November 10, 1992, Chandler was indicted by a Pinellas County, Florida grand jury on three counts of first degree murder for the deaths of Joan and her daughters, Michelle and Christe Rogers, occurring on or between June 1-4, 1989. (R. 1, 2054) Frederick Zinober, Esq, was appointed to represent the defendant. Trial commenced on September 19, 1994, and the jury ultimately returned guilty verdicts on all three

counts. (R. 2055; Vol. 66, R. 11082-84)¹ On November 4, 1994, after a penalty phase proceeding conducted per the provisions of Section 921.141, Florida Statutes, the trial court imposed three death sentences upon Chandler for the murders of the Rogers women. (R. 2055; Vol. 68, R. 11520-11530) After the filing of a timely notice of appeal, this Court affirmed the convictions, judgments and sentences. <u>Chandler v. State</u>, 702 So. 2d 186 (Fla. 1997). A timely filed petition for writ of certiorari was denied by the United States Supreme Court on April 20, 1998. <u>Chandler v. Florida</u>, 523 U.S. 1083 (1998). On June 17, 1998, the Office of Capital Collateral Representative, Middle Region (CCR-Middle), filed an original "shell" motion to vacate the defendant's convictions, judgements and sentences per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 with leave to amend. (R. 1-27, 2055) A slew of discovery and public records litigation ensued. (R. 28-201) On May 5, 1999, the Trial Court granted a defense request for an extension of time to amend the Rule 3.850 motion. (R. 352-353) On July 28, 1999, the undersigned was appointed to represent Chandler regarding his post conviction claims per the provisions of Sections 27.710 and .711, Florida

¹ As noted above, when a volume number precedes the "R" citation, the reference (for example, "Vol. 14, R. 1002") is to the original record on appeal in <u>Chandler v. State</u>, 702 So. 2d 186 (Fla. 1997).

Statutes (1998 as amended). (R. 357, 358) After undersigned Registry Counsel was afforded time to study the files and investigate possible post conviction claims, Chandler timely filed a complete, amended Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion on May 30, 2000. (R. 415-475) The state filed a response with exhibits on or about August 11, 2000. (R. 559-1523) The trial court held a Huff hearing on September 15, 2000, the purpose of which was to determine judicially what issues raised in the amended 3.850 motion merited an evidentiary hearing. (R. 1536-1615, 2055) The Trial Court ruled in this regard that an evidentiary hearing was not necessary regarding Chandler's claim (labeled "IA" by the state in its response to the amended 3.850 motion) that his trial counsel failed to protect him from the alleged prosecutorial misconduct committed during closing argument² (R. 423-431,1637) and the venue issue (labeled "IB" by the state) except whether Chandler waived any objection to selecting jurors from Orange County³. (R. 431-457, 1637, 2055-56) An evidentiary hearing was ordered regarding Chandler's claim

²2 Except the trial court allowed the parties to explore in the evidentiary hearing the strategy trial counsel used in this regard. (R. 2056)

³ The trial court held that "(the) defendant may supplement the record as to Claim I-B, pursuant to the discussion at the *Huff* hearing, prior to or within twenty (20) days of the evidentiary hearing." (R. 1637)

("IC.1") that his trial counsel lacked his permission to admit that he raped Judy Blair and the claim ("ID") that trial counsel failed to protect him regarding cross-examination related to the Blair, "Williams Rule" evidence. (R. 462-467, 1637, 2055-56) An evidentiary hearing was held on November 20, 2000 in Clearwater with Judge Schaeffer presiding. (R. 1646-1894) Zinober and Chandler testified during that hearing.

C. Disposition in the Lower Tribunal

After the parties were afforded an opportunity to file written closing arguments (R. 1896-1996), the Trial Court denied the amended Rule 3.850 motion in an "Order Denying Defendant's Amended Motion To Vacate And Set Aside Convictions, Judgments and Sentences" with appendix dated June 28, 2001. (R. 2054-2089) The defendant filed a notice of appeal of the trial court's June 28, 2001 Order on July 2, 2001. (R. 2101-02)

D. Statement on Jurisdiction

This Court has jurisdiction per the provisions of Article V, Section 3(b)(1), Florida Constitution, and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850(e) because this is a direct appeal of a final Order (R. 2054-2089) denying the defendant's post conviction motion to vacate his

16

convictions, judgments and death sentences filed per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850.

E. Standard for Appellate Review

This is a post conviction capital case involving mixed questions of law and fact. As such, the circuit court Order (R. 2054-2089) denying the Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion is subject to plenary, de novo review except that deference is given to the Trial Court's findings of fact so long as there is competent and substantial evidence to support them. See Johnson v. Moore, 789 So. 2d 262 (Fla. 2001); Rose v. State, 675 So. 2d 567 (Fla. 1996). In some instances, the Trial Court summarily denied certain of Chandler's claims without an evidentiary hearing. In those instances, the standard of appellate review is whether the amended Rule 3.850 motion, the state's response thereto and the files conclusively demonstrate that the defendant is not entitled to post conviction relief. See Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850(d) and Peete v. State, 748 So. 2d 253, 257 (Fla. 1999). ("To uphold the trial court's summary denial of claims raised in a 3.850 motion, the claims must be either facially invalid or conclusively refuted by the record.")

F. Statement of the Facts

A Synopsis of the Evidence Presented During the Original Trial

The basic facts of the case are set forth in Chandler v. State, 702 So. 2d 186 (Fla. 1996) and the Trial Court's Order denying the amended Rule 3.850 motion at R. 2054. Joan Rogers and her two daughters, Michelle and Christe, were vacationing in central Florida (first, at Disney World near Orlando, then in the Tampa Bay area) on or about June 1, 1989, when they allegedly met Chandler near the beaches in Pinellas County. He supposedly lured them onto his boat and dumped them into Tampa Bay weighted down with ropes and concrete blocks. Evidence linking the defendant to the homicides included Chandler's hand-written directions to a Courtney Campbell Causeway boat ramp and his palm print found on a brochure in Joan Rogers' rented vehicle, Chandler's admission to law enforcement that he met Michelle Rogers at a gas station and gave her directions to a boat ramp and that he had been out in his boat at a time that the homicides could have occurred, testimony from Rollins Cooper, a man who Chandler worked with, to the effect that Chandler stated to him on June 1, 1989 that he had a date with three women,⁴ and testimony from two jail inmates, Arthur Wayne Stephenson and Blake Leslie, and from Chandler's daughter and son-in-law, Krystal

⁴ Cooper also said that he saw Chandler on June 2nd, that he looked disheveled and stated that he had been out on his boat the night before.

and Rick Mays, that Chandler made incriminating statements regarding these homicides to them. In addition, the state was permitted to present "similar fact" evidence per the provisions of Section 90.404(2), Florida Statutes, from a Canadian tourist, Judy Blair, who testified that approximately two weeks earlier, Chandler lured her onto his boat at night and, when she would not consent to his request for sex, he raped her. Blair and Barbara Mottram, a friend, had been vacationing in the Tampa Bay area where they met Chandler. According to Ms. Blair, Chandler took her out on his boat one morning and returned her to shore that afternoon. Blair added that Chandler invited both women to join him later for a nighttime boat ride. When Ms. Mottram did not meet her at the dock that evening, Blair and Chandler went back out in his boat together. (EH 20) Blair stated that, once they were well offshore, Chandler began making unwanted advances toward her. When she resisted, Chandler repeatedly battered her sexually. Chandler then returned to shore and let Blair leave.⁵ Robert Carlton, a man who bought Chandler's boat in August 1989, testified that he observed several concrete blocks with holes in them at Chandler's residence.

⁵ Blair identified a green shirt taken from Chandler's residence as similar to the one he was wearing when he allegedly raped her.

<u>A Synopsis of Chandler's Post Conviction Claims</u>

During the course of Mr. Zinober's representation of the defendant in the trial court, defense counsel took certain actions that Chandler contends constituted ineffective assistance of counsel and which are the subject matter of this appeal.

The first claim concerns venue. After obtaining a venue change so that the jurors would not be selected from residents of either Pinellas or Hillsborough counties, Zinober agreed (allegedly without Chandler's permission) to seat jurors selected from residents of Orange County, despite the massive amount of adverse pretrial publicity generated there. Chandler contends that trial counsel's ineffectiveness regarding this ill-advised decision resulted in denying the client a right to a venue change which would have avoided the use of Orange County jurors who presumably would have been prejudiced by the massive, negative pretrial publicity. (R. 433-457) He argues that he was, at the very least, entitled to an evidentiary hearing on this claim, and that the trial court committed reversible error by denying him that hearing.

Defense counsel was also ineffective when he told the jury in his opening statement and closing arguments that in fact Chandler had raped Judy Blair.⁶ (R. 457-62) Chandler contends that Zinober did this without his permission. <u>Id</u>. Zinober also instructed Chandler not to deny raping Blair when he testified, but, instead, to assert his Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination regarding the Blair incident and answer questions only about the Rogers homicides. Chandler asserts that this advice was disastrous and, whether or not he agreed to Zinober's strategy regarding the Blair evidence, it constituted ineffective assistance of counsel.

During closing arguments, Zinober failed to object when the prosecutor repeatedly insulted, disparaged and verbally attacked him and Chandler and otherwise improperly commented on the evidence. (R. 423-475)

Finally, Chandler claims that, when the acts of ineffectiveness are considered in their totality, he suffered prejudice because of the distinct likelihood that the outcome of the proceedings were not constitutionally reliable.

A Synopsis of the Testimony Presented During the

It is acknowledged that Zinober vigorously pursued efforts to prevent the Blair "similar fact" evidence from being admitted at Chandler's trial, to no avail.

Evidentiary Hearing on the 3.850 Motion

As noted above, Frederick Zinober, Esq. served as Chandler's court appointed trial attorney. He worked for the state attorney's office from about 1982 to 1986, then entered private practice. (EH 9) The Florida Bar certified him with expertise in criminal law about a year before being appointed to the Chandler case. (EH 7, 12) As a defense attorney, he handled and/or tried about eighteen serious criminal cases before Chandler's, eleven of them involving homicides. (EH 10, 11) Chandler's was the first case as a defense attorney in which he encountered a "Williams Rule" issue. (EH 12)

Zinober was aware even before he was appointed to defend Chandler that the state would attempt to introduce evidence of the alleged rape of Judy Blair as "similar fact" evidence against his client within the context of Section 90.404(2), Florida Statutes. (EH 15, 17, 18) The state did this in order to bolster its case regarding the Rogers women since " . . . there was no evidence directly linking him to the homicide." (EH 51, 52)

Zinober conceded that Blair did not tell anyone about any sexual abuse until a day after it allegedly occurred, when she confided in her companion, Ms. Mottram. (EH 21, 22) Chandler told Zinober that he took Blair out in his boat, but he insisted that the sex was consensual (EH 22), and Zinober admitted that there was no physical evidence to corroborate force being used against Blair. (EH 22, 24)

Zinober defended his decision to admit Chandler's alleged guilt of the rape at trial after filing about eleven "C-4"⁷ motions, unsuccessfully trying to exclude the <u>Williams</u> Rule evidence. (EH 26, 39) He testified that Blair appeared very "wholesome" looking and intelligent. (EH 42, 43) He felt that she was a very credible witness and that the jury would believe her over Chandler. (EH 37, 38, 42) Thus, Zinober believed that when Chandler testified in his own behalf, he should avoid any mention of the Blair case (EH 26-29) and instead assert a Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination regarding that matter. (EH 30) In lieu of challenging Blair's testimony, Zinober decided to emphasize to the jury that the Blair incident was separate and distinct from the instant case, and that he was not going to defend it. (EH 31, 123) His stated strategy

7

Defense counsel was referring to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.190(c)(4) regarding a defense motion to dismiss an indictment or information where "there are no disputed facts and the undisputed facts do not establish a prima facia case of guilt against the defendant."

was to not defend the Blair case and to preserve the issue for appellate review. (EH 31, 32) Thus Zinober told the jury, "(t)hey're probably going to be able to prove the rape, but they're not going to be able to prove the murder," (EH 36), and further told them that it was a separate case. (EH 34, 35) Zinober believed that Chandler understood what his over-all trial strategy was going to be before the trial began. (EH 67, 68) He admitted, however, that Chandler expressed displeasure with his opening statement because he conceded his client's guilt regarding the Blair case. (EH 68)

Zinober noted that defending a sexual battery case more often than not turns on the issues of identity and consent. (EH 43) Identity was not an issue here, but to establish that there was consent, he would have had to deal with the difficult problem of why the alleged victim would lie about the incident. (EH 44) Chandler told him she would lie because she was angry with him for the anal sex act he committed on her. (EH 45) Zinober felt that <u>if</u> Chandler told his version of the incident, the jury would not believe him (EH 45, 129), the state could therefore persuade the jury that he was lying, and imply that he would also lie about the homicides. (EH 49-50) His defense team agreed. (EH 121, 122) Judge Schaeffer noted that defense attorneys must consider the difference in persona between victim and perpetrator. She stated that jurors would ask themselves if Blair would want to have sex with Chandler. (EH 86) Zinober agreed, stating that Blair came to the trial well-dressed and very attractive, while Chandler appeared heavy and very pale. (EH 86, 87, 89) Zinober conceded, however, that Chandler weighed a lot less at the time of the alleged rape and that Blair had described him as tanned and reasonably nice looking when she was with him. (EH 89, 90)

Zinober added that he always takes into account personal appearances in considering a consensual sex defense. (EH 88) After meeting with Blair and assessing her and Chandler, as well as the circumstances in the murder case, he decided that a consensual sex defense was not going to be believable. (EH 89, 129) Had he felt otherwise, he would have demanded that the rape case be resolved first. (EH 89)

Zinober wanted Chandler to be able to assert his Fifth Amendment privilege so that he didn't have to pit his story against Blair's, thereby losing his credibility and forfeiting his chances of prevailing in the homicide cases. (EH 51, 84, 85, 139) Another reason for having Chandler assert the privilege was to preserve a possible appellate issue. (EH 130)

At this point in the hearing, Judge Schaeffer clarified her ruling regarding the issue of the <u>Williams</u> Rule evidence. Judge Schaeffer stated that once Chandler took the stand and denied culpability in the homicide case, everything about the rape case would be admissible since the Court had ruled that the rape case was relevant. (EH 82) Chandler did not have to answer specific questions about the rape case since it was pending; however, the state would be allowed to ask its questions and Chandler would be allowed to assert the Fifth Amendment privilege as to each one. (EH 83-84)

Zinober's memorandum to his file dated May 17, 1994 indicated that Chandler agreed with this strategy when questioned about the rape case. (EH 126) As a death penalty lawyer, he anticipated being questioned later about his actions, and his memorandum was made for that reason. He admitted he did not send Chandler a copy of the memorandum. (EH 112) Zinober stated that there were far too many decisions he had to make to warrant writing to Chandler about each one of them. (EH 64, 65) He added that inmates housed with his client were trying to gather and provide the state with information on Chandler to better their own circumstances, thus written communication between him and Chandler were susceptible to being intercepted or otherwise misused. He stated that Chandler agreed with him. (EH 65, 66) Furthermore, Zinober agreed with the state's contention that sending memoranda to the client undermines the client's confidence in the attorney. (EH 125)

Zinober thought the state's strategy was to "intermix" the facts of the two cases (Rogers and Blair) to such a degree as to confuse the jury. (EH 47-48) If he could let the jurors be convinced that Chandler was going to be convicted on the rape case and serve a life sentence for it, they would not be under as much pressure to find him guilty on the homicide case if and when they found that there was not enough evidence to convict him. (EH 52, 127, 128)

Zinober stated that usually <u>Williams</u> Rule evidence applies to cases in which a defendant has been convicted previously, but in this instance, the Blair rape case had not been tried yet. (EH 130) Thus, the night before Chandler was to testify, he met with Judge Schaeffer and the prosecutors, Crow and Bartlett, and he (Zinober) told them that if the court allowed the Blair case evidence, Chandler would plead the Fifth when questioned about it. Zinober said that he did this in order to see how the judge would rule. (EH 131-132) Zinober did not think the state would be allowed to repeatedly ask Chandler questions about the rape case as long as Chandler asserted his Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination. As it turned out, however, Chandler was compelled to plead the Fifth some twenty-one times. (EH 57, 58) Zinober noted that he believed Judge Schaeffer and the Florida Supreme Court were wrong to allow the repeated questioning about the rape case in that manner. (EH 59, 60) Judge Schaeffer interjected here, again noting that the Trial Court had ruled that Chandler would have to respond to each question put to him by the prosecutor during cross-examination. (EH 61)

Judge Schaeffer asked Zinober if he had considered what he would have done if the Court had ruled that Chandler had to answer the questions, to which Zinober answered that Chandler would have disobeyed the court and would not have answered the questions. (EH 137-138)

Zinober stated that he did not instruct Chandler on just how to assert his Fifth Amendment privilege regarding the Blair case, assuming that the client already knew how to do this since he asserted the privilege when he was arrested in Volusia County. (EH 69) He did not go over his direct examination questions with Chandler (EH 132-134) before trial, feeling that Chandler was better when he was not rehearsed (EH 135). Zinober emphasized again that Chandler understood what his (Zinober's) over-all trial strategy was going to be before the trial began. (EH 67, 68) And as stated, he admitted that Chandler expressed displeasure with his opening statement because he conceded his client's guilt regarding the Blair case. (EH 68)

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