### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OBA CHANDLER,

Appellant,

vs. 1468 CASE NO. SC01-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_\_

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

### CANDANCE M SABELLA

Senior Assistant Attorney General Chief of Capital Appeals Florida Bar No. 0445071 Westwood Center 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 801-0600 (813) 356-1292 Facsimile

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Chandler's first claim is that counsel was ineffective for failing to seek a second change of venue from Orange County. This claim is procedurally barred as a direct appeal issue. Moreover, in light of the fact counsel sought and received a change of venue, he was able to select a jury with little or no difficulty and the trial judge acknowledged that a second motion for change of venue would not have been granted, there has been no showing of deficient performance or prejudice from counsel's decision to not request a second change of venue from Orange County.

Chandler next argues that defense counsel's admission in opening statement that the State could prove the sexual battery of Judy Blair was an impermissible concession of Chandler's guilt. The facts as set forth below, and as found by the lower court, clearly establish that defense counsel's tactical, strategic decision to take that approach was one to which Chandler agreed and one within the range of reasonably effective assistance of counsel.

Chandler's final claim is that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to certain prosecutor comments during closing arguments. As this Court has previously reviewed those comments and found that they do not constitute fundamental error, this

claim is barred. Moreover, counsel's decision to not assert an objection was a reasonable tactical decision and does not support a claim of either deficient performance or prejudice.

As the following will demonstrate the trial court correctly concluded that Chandler was afforded constitutionally effective assistance of counsel and no relief is warranted.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

All of Chandler's claims raised in the instant collateral proceeding rest upon an assertion of ineffective assistance of counsel. The standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under <a href="Strickland v. Washington">Strickland v. Washington</a>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), is de novo. <a href="Stephens v. State">State</a>, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999) (requiring de novo review of ineffective assistance of counsel); <a href="Sims v. State">Sims v. State</a>, 754 So. 2d 657, 670 (Fla. 2000). Both prongs of the <a href="Strickland">Strickland</a> test, i.e., deficient performance and prejudice, present mixed questions of law and fact reviewed de novo on appeal. <a href="Cade v. Haley">Cade v. Haley</a>, 222 F.3d 1298, 1302 (11th Cir. 2000) (stating that, although a district court's ultimate conclusions as to deficient performance and prejudice are subject to plenary review, the underlying findings of fact are subject only to clear error review, citing <a href="Byrd v. Hasty">Byrd v. Hasty</a>, 142 F.3d 1395, 1396 (11th Cir. 1998); <a href="Strickland">Strickland</a>, 466 U.S. at 698

(observing that both the performance and prejudice components of the ineffectiveness inquiry are mixed questions of law and fact).

As to the claims for which an evidentiary hearing was held, the standard of review applied by an appellate court when reviewing a trial court's ruling on a rule 3.850 motion to vacate following an evidentiary hearing is: "As long as the trial court's findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, 'this Court will not "substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, likewise of the credibility of the witnesses as well as the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial court."'" Blanco v. State, 702 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (Fla. 1997), quoting Demps v. State, 462 So. 2d 1074, 1075 (Fla. 1984), quoting Goldfarb v. Robertson, 82 So. 2d 504, 506 (Fla. 1955); Melendez v. State, 718 So. 2d 746 (Fla. 1998).

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### CLAIM I

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING CHANDLER'S REQUEST FOR AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON HIS CLAIM THAT DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO SEEK A VENUE CHANGE FROM ORANGE COUNTY.

Chandler initially challenges Judge Schaeffer's denial of his claim that counsel was ineffective for agreeing to the decision to move the trial from Hillsborough County to Pinellas County and bring in a jury pool from Orange County. While he frames the issue as error for denying an evidentiary hearing regarding this claim, the argument rests upon the assertion that there was presumed and actual prejudice from the publicity which denied Chandler a fair trial. This argument fails for a number or reasons.

First, while it is true that Judge Schaeffer denied the request for an evidentiary hearing on the amount of publicity generated about the Rogers' murders, she accepted as true Chandler's assertion that there was a lot of publicity and she agreed to hear evidence concerning Chandler's venue waiver and

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  Chandler was indicted for three murders alleged to have occurred in either Hillsborough County or Pinellas County, Florida. Chandler elected to be tried in Hillsborough County but later sought a change of venue due to extensive publicity. (PCR V4/662-675)

Zinober's strategy regarding the venue issue. (PCR V9/1579-80, 1637-38) Chandler concedes that evidence was permitted on facets of the claim but urges that more was needed to substantiate his position that the publicity was extensive. As Judge Schaeffer heard the following testimony, accepted as true that there was extensive publicity and the State did not challenge the finding, there is no need for further evidentiary proceedings.

Chandler and trial counsel agreed at the evidentiary hearing that the defense filed the motion for change of venue from Hillsborough County, that Chandler discussed that change of venue with defense counsel and agreed to the court's proposal that it be moved to Orlando for the attempt to select an impartial jury and then return to Pinellas County with those selected jurors for the trial. (PCR V9/1715, 1726; V10/1737, 1742-45, 1855-59) Zinober's letter to Judge Schaeffer concerning venue and the note that appellant had read and agreed with it, was further support of the testimony. Exhibits 1A and 1B) Defense counsel acknowledged he had not used all his peremptories in selecting the jurors and that he had consulted closely with Chandler in the jury selection process. (PCR V10/1745-46) Zinober recollected and Chandler agreed that they had talked extensively during jury selection.

Chandler admitted he had not objected to any individual juror who was selected. (PCR V10/1746, 1859-60)

Defense counsel and appellant acknowledged that a major concern had been to receive a speedy trial, (PCR V9/1721-23; V10/1862-63), and that Orange County was preferable for jury selection over Pinellas or Hillsborough Counties. (PCR V9/1724-25; V10/1743, 1858) Defense counsel agreed that the court had felt that an impartial jury could be selected in Hillsborough County. (PCR V9/1719, 1723-26)

Zinober felt and the lower court agreed that he had not waived the right to challenge the Orange County venue should there have been any problem in selecting an impartial jury. (PCR V9/1716, 1723; V10/1740-42) Chandler acknowledged that he had signed the stipulation agreeing to the Pinellas County venue for the trial after the attempted selection of the jurors in Orange County. (PCR V9/1736; V10/1737-38) Chandler also agreed that the court had informed them they retained the right to object to the Orange County venue if the jury selection process reflected a problem in obtaining a fair jury. (PCR V10/1828-29) He added that he had paid attention every time the judge had spoken to him. (PCR V10/1855) He acknowledged his agreeing during the pretrial venue hearing to the Orange County venue for jury selection, (PCR V10/1855-57)(State's Exhibit 3, Vol. 37, R

12057-12065) and that his signed Change of Election of Venue, (PCR V9/1736; V10/1737-38)(State's Exhibit 2, R 6000) and the Court's Order, dated July 18, 1994, nunc pro tunc, to July 5, 1994, (State's Exhibit 4, R 6309-6310), reflected his stipulation for jury selection in Orange County and Change of Venue for trial from Hillsborough to Pinellas County. (PCR V10/1877-78)

"This Court has long held that trial courts have 'wide latitude' to regulate proceedings before them 'in order that the administration of justice be speedily and fairly achieved in an orderly, dignified manner' and that '[i]n this function the trial judge exercises the sound discretion with which he is vested.'" Asay v. State, 769 So. 2d 974, 981 (Fla. 2000), (quoting Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990) and <u>Hahn v. State</u>, 58 So. 2d 188, 191 (Fla. 1952)). <u>See</u>, <u>also</u>, Robinson v. State, 707 So. 2d 688, 695 (Fla. 1998); Garcia v. State, 622 So. 2d 1325, 1327 (Fla. 1993). In the instant case, Judge Schaeffer accepted as true the assertion that publicity was extensive and Chandler was permitted to present testimony concerning Zinober's and Chandler's decisions with regard to this claim. Accordingly, Chandler cannot show that the limitation was an abuse of the trial court's discretion or that the court's findings were not supported by competent substantial

evidence.

Moreover, as Judge Schaeffer found, to the extent that Chandler is asserting the merits of the underlying claim it is procedurally barred. Challenges to venue or issues concerning jury selection could have been raised on direct appeal issue and are not appropriately raised in a motion for post conviction relief. Gaskin v. State, 737 So. 2d 509 (Fla. 1999) (denial of change of venue request barred as direct appeal issue.) Counsel cannot circumvent this procedural bar by asserting ineffective assistance of counsel. State v. Riechmann, 777 So. 2d 342, 366 (Fla. 2000), (quoting, Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990) (stating that claims of ineffective assistance of counsel should not be used to circumvent the rule that postconviction proceedings cannot serve as a second appeal.))

Finally, the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is without merit. This Court, upon reviewing similar claims regarding a failure to request a change of venue has held that such claims are properly denied where the claimant fails to argue sufficient facts demonstrating he suffered prejudice due to counsel's failure to request a change of venue or that had counsel made the request, the court would likely have granted it. Patton v. State, 784 So. 2d 380, 389-390 (Fla. 2000), relying upon, Rolling v. State, 695 So. 2d 278, 284-88 (Fla.

1997). See, also, Sireci v. State, 773 So. 2d 34 (Fla. 2000);

Owen v. State, 773 So. 2d 510 (Fla. 2000); Gaskin v. State, 737

So. 2d 509 (Fla. 1999); Jones v. State, 732 So. 2d 313 (Fla. 1999); Haliburton v. Singletary, 691 So. 2d 466 (Fla. 1997); and Van Poyck v. State, 694 So. 2d 686 (Fla. 1997) (all cases approving the denial of postconviction claims of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to seek change of venue.)

This Court has also held that trial courts are encouraged to attempt to impanel a jury before ruling on a change of venue as it "provides trial courts an opportunity to determine through voir dire whether it is actually possible to find individuals who have not been seriously infected by the publicity. See, Rolling, 695 So. 2d at 285. If the trial court finds such individuals, a jury is selected. Where the voir dire fails to produce these individuals, the trial court must grant the motion for change of venue." Foster v. State, 778 So. 2d 906, 912-914 (Fla. 2000).

In her order denying relief, Judge Schaeffer explained, "Quite to the contrary of defendant's assertion that defendant's trial counsel was ineffective, he was very effective. He won his Motion for change of venue. No other lawyer who has appeared before me can make that claim, for I have granted no other motion for change of venue in 20 years of trying cases,

many of them high profile cases." (PCR V11/2060) She also noted that, "In light of this, had defendant moved for a second change of venue, from Orlando to some other place, it would have been denied." (PCR V11/2060)

Judge Schaeffer further noted "there is nothing in the record to suggest that the jury actually chosen from Orange County, Florida, was anything but fair, impartial, and objective" and that:

"1) Only 4 of the 12 jurors who served knew anything about this case. None of them had formed any opinion about the guilt or innocence of the defendant. 2) In this case that was to last four weeks, with jurors having to come to Pinellas County from Orange County and be sequestered for the entire time, it took only 1 ½ days to pick a jury. 3) Neither side exercised all its preemptory challenges, the defendant choosing to exercise only 4 of his 10 challenges.

( P C R V11/2060)

The record in this case further reveals that, of the fifteen (15) jurors excused for cause, none were excused because of any knowledge of the case. (PCR V4/569) It shows that two individuals who ultimately served as jurors, DeVault and Pittman, indicated that they had heard of the case, on Unsolved Mysteries, but formed no opinion of Chandler's guilt. (PCR V4/570-571) Carsone and Jones, who also served on the jury,

heard on the radio that morning that a new system was being used to select Orange County jurors to return to Pinellas County to serve on a case. (PCR V4/571) One individual, Ulibarri, who served as an alternate juror, said he had visited his son in Ohio and had heard on a restaurant television, that the bodies had been found, and had later heard more in Orlando, but, interestingly, he believed he had heard no more information via the media than he had heard in the court's introductory statement of the case. (PCR V4/571-572) In the end, only four (4) jurors and one alternate had any knowledge of the case and none of them believed they possessed sufficient information to form any opinion, agreeing their decision would be based upon the evidence presented in the courtroom. (PCR V4/572)

Perhaps the most interesting response to the questions concerning pretrial publicity and knowledge of the case was obtained from a prospective juror who did not ultimately sit on the case. This prospective juror was a media person himself, who worked as a local news reporter and morning radio anchor. Mr. Johnson told the court that while he did recall hearing media coverage of the finding of the bodies and return of the indictment in the case, the details he was aware of were no more in-depth than the details provided by the court in the introductory statement. (PCR V4/571)

Defense counsel's closing argument and supplementation of the record with report of Paul Wilson do not support the allegation that counsel was ineffective for failure to move for change of venue from Orange County. There was no difficulty in the actual selection of the jury and collateral counsel's supplementation of the record has not managed to show any unduly inflammatory publicity. In <a href="Foster v. State">Foster v. State</a>, 778 So. 2d 906 (Fla. 2000), this Court stressed that "the mere existence of some pretrial publicity does not necessarily lead to an inference of partiality" and listed five circumstances for the trial court's consideration of pretrial publicity:

"(1) when it occurred in relation to the time of the crime and the trial; (2) whether the publicity was made up of factual or inflammatory stories; (3) whether the publicity favored the prosecution's side of the story; (4) the size of the community; and (5) whether the defendant exhausted all of his peremptory challenges. See <u>Rolling</u>, 695 So. 2d at 285."

<u>Id</u>. at 913

Based on the consideration of these circumstances, collateral counsel has not demonstrated that the trial court would have granted a change of venue from Orange County even had defense counsel made such motion. Quoting Rolling, quoting McCaskill v. State, 344 So. 2d 1276, 1278 (Fla. 1977), Foster repeated the ultimate test for consideration of change of venue,

which has been the law in Florida since at least 1959:

"'The test for determining a change of venue is whether the general state of mind of the inhabitants of a community is so infected by knowledge of the incident and accompanying prejudice, bias, and preconceived opinions that jurors could not possibly put these matters out of their minds and try the case solely on the evidence presented in the courtroom.'"

Id. at 912

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